



Forests for the future: A Meta-analysis on genetic variation in wood production under elevated CO₂



Tessema Engidaw MEREED

July 2015

Supervisor:

Dr.Víctor Resco de Dios



University of Lleida

School of Agrifood and Forestry Science and Engineering

Master thesis:

Forests for the future: A Meta-analysis on genetic variation in wood production under elevated CO₂

Presented by: Tessema Engidaw MEREED

Supervised by: Dr. Víctor Resco de Dios

Abstract

There is some uncertainty on the climate of the 21st century, but increases in CO₂ concentrations are certain. When plant growth is carbon limited, increasing CO₂ concentration should foster tree growth. A wealth of studies have examined the variation in CO2 responses across tree species but understanding the drivers of intra-specific variation has, so far, been conducted in individual studies and we are still lacking a synthesis of published work. I conducted a meta-analysis on the effects of elevated CO_2 (eCO₂) on tree growth (height, stem biomass and stem volume) and photosynthesis across genotypes to understand if there was genetic variation in responses to eCO₂ and examine the underlying mechanisms, and to additionally understand the interactions between eCO2 and other global change agents, like O₃. I observed that most of the published studies so far have been conducted in *Populus* and that the range of variation in eCO₂ responses across genotypes (from 11% to 42% for stem biomass) was similar to previous analyses on inter-specific variation (21%-37% for stem biomass,(Centritto et al. 1999, DeLucia et al. 2005), indicating a large potential for tree breeding. Growth at eCO₂ was highly predictable from the growth at ambient CO₂ (aCO₂, $R^2 = 0.83$), and relative rankings of genotype performance were preserved across CO₂ levels, indicating no significant interaction between genotypic and environmental effects. The growth response to eCO₂ was highly correlated with the response of photosynthesis ($R^2 = 0.83$) but, while we observed 106% increases in photosynthesis, height only increased by 11%, indicating a predominant role for C allocation in ultimately driving the response to eCO₂, where allocation to primary growth may not be a primary objective of increased assimilation. I additionally observed that best-performing genotypes under eCO_2 also respond better under $eCO_2 \times O_3$ although not equally. More over, the effect of O_3 on tree growth was observed and I found negative percent responses. Further research needs on this area include the study of intra-specific variation outside the genus *Populus* and on the interaction between eCO_2 and other environmental stressors. Overall, my results indicate significant potential for tree breeding programs to foster CO_2 induced productivity gains, where lack of genotype by environment interactions simplify selection.

Acknowledgement

First and fore most I would like to express my appreciation to my advisor: Prof. Víctor Resco de Dios for his unlimited support through all this long process. This work was supported by the European Union Fund for Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA) by giving the scholarship Mediterranean Forestry and Natural Resource Management (MEDfOR). I am also place sincerely grateful to Prof. José Antonio Bonet, Coordinator the MEDfOR program, for his continuous encouragement. We are really privileged at the MEDfOR programs to have someone like you helping all the students. I wish to express my sincere thanks to the School of Agrifood and Forestry Science and Engineering (ETSEA), for providing me with all the necessary facilities for the research, and to all of our lab members for their help, support love and attentions. The most special thanks goes to my family and friends for giving unconditional support and love through all this long process. Tessema. E Mereed

Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgement	iii
Introduction	1
Materials and Methods	4
Literature survey and data collection	4
Meta-analysis	5
Results	7
Intra-specific variation in the response to elevated CO2 growth and photosynthesi	s across
genotypes	7
Genotype x environment interaction in response to eCO ₂	
Photosynthesis as a driver the growth response	16
Effects of $CO_2 \ge O_3$ on genotype growth and photosynthesis	17
Discussion	20
Genotype variation in response to elevated CO ₂	20
Lack of interactions between genotype and environment in response to eCO ₂	21
Carbon allocation, and not photsynthesis, was the major driver of growth responses	21
Tree growth response to ozone and ozone plus CO ₂ concentration	
Conclusion	24
References	25

List of Tables

1.	Summary	/ of	genotypi	c variation	among clone	s of	 	11
±.	Summar	01	Senergen	o variation		5 01	 	

List of Figures

1. Response to eCO2 of stem biomass	7
2. Intra-specific variation in the response to eCO ₂	9
3. Comparison of genotype values at elevated	13
4. Comparison of genotypes grown in ambient CO ₂	15
5. Comparison of the response to eCO ₂	16
6. Comparisons of the % change for variables	
7. Comparisons of the % change for variables	

Introduction

One of the major global problems today is the rapid increase of atmospheric CO_2 and its influence on global climate change. The global carbon balance has changed substantially with the increase of anthropogenic emissions resulting in climate warming (Raupach et al. 2007).

Forests play a significant role in the climate system as large carbon reservoirs. In fact, the balance between photosynthesis and respiration is currently thought to assimilate 25-30% of fossil fuel emissions (Hole 2006,Canadell 2010), with major C sinks currently in middle and high latitudes of the northern hemisphere (Fang et al. 2014). Terrestrial C sequestration is the result of the immobilization of C through growth, and understanding the evolution of the terrestrial C sink under climate change is the topic of much debate (Körner 2006).

One of the most important drivers of forest growth under climate change is CO_2 . When trees are exposed to elevated CO_2 concentrations (eCO₂) photosynthesis rates increase in the short-term (Al, R.Ceulemans et al. 1994). In the longer term, a downregulation of photosynthesis is often observed, specially under nutrient limitations (Tissue et al. 1997). However, when trees are grown under ample nutrient supply, as may be the case of fertilized forestry plantations, then we can expect sustained increases in growth over time (Oren et al. 2001).Under eCO₂, trees additionally decrease their rate of transpiration and of stomatal conductance, therefore increasing water use efficiency (Dickson et al. 2001,Krishi et al. 1998), (but not always, cf. Bauweraerts et al. 2014). This may consequently lead to improved water balance and permit tree canopies to retain greater leaf area (Kostiainen et al. 2014), further fostering increased tree growth. How this increase in C input under eCO_2 , in the absence of nutrient limitations, relates to increases in growth is the topic of much discussion (Esser et al. 2011), with recent work pointing towards increases in C allocation belowground as predominant under eCO_2 . For example, the number of roots and root length have been documented to increase substantially under elevated CO_2 (Reich et al. 2006, Thornton et al. 2007, Esser et al. 2011). However, the positive effects of eCO_2 on growth could be counter-balanced by other global change drivers, such as water scarcity, increased warming and ozone concentrations (O₃), to name a few (Riikonen et al. 2005). For example, ozone often decreases photosynthesis and stomatal conductance by affecting carbon fixation, light usage efficiency and amount and activity of Rubisco (Noormets et al. 2001, Nunn et al. 2005, Riikonen et al. 2005), subsequently resulting in growth reductions. An important research question is thus to understand whether the positive effects of eCO_2 will be maintained, at least to some degree, under the negative impacts of increasing atmospheric stressors.

Increases in global population raise an additional challenge to forestry, as population increases unavoidably lead to decreases in forest area. According to the United Nation's World Population Prospect Report, the global population is currently 7.3 billion, and it is expected raise up to 9 billion by the year 2050 (United Nations 2013). Forest plantations have been established worldwide to satisfy the demands of such an increasing population. While forest plantations have many benefits, including protection against soil erosion and enhancements of water quality, to name a couple, they have also been criticized as they could lead to important decreases in biodiversity, in some instances. Tree breeding programs offer the potential to increase productivity without increasing the area used for plantations.

Tree breeding relies, first, upon the existence of genetic variation in a given trait, such that genotypes with superior performance can be selected. It is also essential to understand how the performance of genotypes varies with environment. Traditionally, a lack of genotype x environment (G x E) interaction has been considered as advantageous because, when there is no G x E, the best-performing genotypes are always the same set of genotypes, regardless of the environment. However, recent studies propose that phenotypic plasticity could be beneficial, as most plastic genotypes have sometimes been documented to be the most productive ones (Aspinwall et al. 2014).

In fact, there are long-standing debates on whether the emphasis of tree breeding programs should be on producing genotypes suitable for specific environments or, on the contrary, on genotypes suited to wide range of environments. It is therefore important to clarify whether genotypes that increase productivity under optimal conditions, but also under stressful conditions can be identified (Aspinwall et al. 2014). Generally, the goal of tree breeding is to produce genotypes that are productive across range of environments or management conditions.

Forest trees and plantations generally increase productivity under eCO_2 , although the response is modulated by environmental factors like soil fertility, drought, ozone, to name a few (Spinnler et al. 2003, Kaakinen et al. 2004,Lindroth 2010). While syntheses studies on the effects of CO_2 on production, alone or in interaction with other environmental drivers, such as temperature, are common. Studies on intra-specific variation, however, are scarce and I am not aware of any systematic analysis that integrates across the published literature.

Here, I report the results of meta-analysis on intra-specific responses of tree growth and gas exchange to elevated CO₂. More specifically, I first sought to understand the degree of variation

in response to CO_2 across genotypes, relative to that reported in inter-specific studies. Only under substantial intra-specific variation can a tree breeding program be developed. Second, I aimed at understanding whether there is significant G x E by testing whether the best performing genotypes under eCO₂ can be predicted based on their performance under aCO₂. CO₂ manipulation experiments are expensive, and breeding programs would be more practical if they could be based upon aCO₂ responses. Third, I sought to disentangle the mechanisms underlying genotypic differences in the response of trees to eCO₂. I expected a higher photosynthesis than growth response to eCO₂, indicating an important role for allocation. Finally, I aimed at understanding whether genotypes performing best under eCO₂ would also be least affected by the negative impacts of environmental stressors (drought, warming, ozone). However, as I will describe below in more detail, I could only assess CO₂ x O₃ interactions.

Materials and Methods

Literature survey and data collection

I conducted extensive literature searches in Web of Science and Scopus with the expression "wood growth CO₂" (March 2015). This led to 644 and 444 papers, respectively. However, most of these studies had to be discarded because they dealt with inter-specific comparisons. After selecting all the papers dealing with intra-specific variation, I additionally searched all the references cited within those papers to find more studies. I ended up with a total of 27 papers relevant for this study, which reported intra-specific variation across 8 species (Table 1).

I digitized all the data these papers contained (plot digitizer General License version 2.0, GPLv2) for a total of 15 variables : height, stem biomass, stem volume, photosynthesis, diameter, biomass production, leaf production, leaf area, leaf area index, root dry biomass, total

dry biomass, wood density, leaf biomass, branch biomass, shoot-root dry biomass. I also took note of growing conditions, and only studies conducted under ample water and nutrient supplies were used. However, different studies had been conducted for different purposes, and not all of these variables had always been measured. In fact, we concentrated our analysis only on height, stem biomass, stem volume and photosynthesis because this data was available for 14, 8, 8 and 10 studies respectively.

I originally intended to understand the effects of CO_2 in interaction with other environmental drivers (warming, drought, ozone, etc). However, due to lack of data, we could only assess $CO_2 \ge O_3$ interactions, as this was the only additional driver for which a minimum of 11 studies were found.

Meta-analysis

This meta-analysis was conducted following the approach of Wang et al. (2012), with only a few exceptions as noted bellow. When a time series was reported, I only used the last value per treatment and study, as that ensured plants were at the oldest stage possible. Plant age ranged from 60 days - 7 years, depending on the study. I used the response ratio (RR) to calculate effect sizes because this is a common metric used in ecological meta-analyses (Brook 1999), including those interested in the response to eCO_2 (Hedges et al. 1999, Curtis and Wang 1998). To avoid problems associated with studies not properly reporting sample sizes and variances, I performed unweighted analysis. Confidence intervals (CIs) for effect-size estimates were calculated by bootstrapping the unweighted data with a resampling of 1,000 iterations. I considered eCO_2 had a significant effect when the interval captured by the CI did not cross 0. R statistical software was used in all calculations (R Core Team 2013).

In order to avoid publication bias, that is, "the tendency for results that are statistically significant to be more likely to be published than those that fail to detect significance" (Rosenthal 1979), I calculate Rosenthal's fail-safe number using the library *metafor* (Wolfgang V. 2010). This analysis indicated that, in the worst case, 868 studies with negative results would have been necessary to have an impact on my results. Further details on how the meta-analysis was done follow Wang et al. (2012). Although calculations were performed on RR, I report the results as % change, for simplicity.

After calculating effect sizes and associated CIs, I assessed whether relative genotype performance at aCO₂ was maintained at eCO₂ by regressing the values at eCO₂ against those at aCO₂ and also by examining rank changes. Because the studies had been performed on plants from different species and ages, they showed contrasting differences in the four traits measured in this study. Thus, prior to analysis, we conducted a normalization, by means of linear rescaling, so that values would be within the same axis of variation and comparable. To examine rank changes, all genotypes within one study were given a number based on how they ranked in terms of performance (1st, 2nd...), and regressed the ranking at eCO₂ against the ranking at aCO₂.

To understand the role of C input in driving growth responses, I regressed the response in height, stem biomass and stem volume against the response in photosynthesis. To understand the interaction between CO_2 and O_3 , I regressed the response ratio of height and stem volume to eCO_2 against the response ratio to O_3 and also against the response ratio to eCO_2 and O_3 . Regression analyses were performed in Sigma Plot (version 12.0, Systat Software Inc., San Jose, USA).

Results

Intra-specific variation in the response to elevated CO_2 growth and photosynthesis across genotypes

Averaged across all studies we observed that tree growth and gas exchange were significantly increased by elevated CO_2 (Fig. 1). However, there were strong differences in the response to eCO2 across traits. For instance, photosynthesis showed a much larger eCO₂ response (106%) than height (11%), stem biomass (27%) and stem volume (48%). It is also noteworthy that the response of stem volume was almost twice that of stem biomass and almost four times that of height.



Figure 1. Responses to eCO2 of stem biomass, photosynthesis, stem volume and height. Each data point represents the mean (\pm 95% CI) from 8 papers for stem biomass, 10 papers for photosynthesis, 6 papers for stem volume and 14 papers for height (Table 1). Significant responses occur the error bars do not cross the 0% line (at P < 0.05).

When examining individual studies, I observed that the response to eCO_2 was significant (*P* < 0.05) for photosynthesis, stem volume and stem biomass, and marginally significantly for height (P< 0.1; Fig.2).



Figure 2. Intra-specific variation in the response to eCO_2 for (a) height, (b) stem biomass, (c) stem volume and (d) photosynthesis for each published study (see Table 1 for information on species and further details for each study). The range in intra-specific variability is indicated by the mean and the 95% CI error bars. To compare the range in intra-specific variability with the range in inter-specific variability, we reproduce the results from a recent meta-analysis on inter-specific responses to eCO2 (Wang et al. 2012). Y-axis scale differs between panels.

The trait that showed the highest response was photosynthesis (up to 354 %, Fig.2d), while the trait with the lowest response was height (down to -9 % Fig2.a). This result also indicates that photosynthesis has a higher response to eCO_2 than other growth traits. Furthermore, height was the trait with the smallest response to eCO_2 , even showing non-significant responses in two studies (papers 13 and 19 in Fig. 2a). Stem biomass and stem volume showed intermediate but always significant responses (Fig.2b, c).

We observed a wide range of variability in response to eCO2 across genotypes in the different studies, as indicated by the large error bars in Fig. 2. To compare the degree of intra-specific variability with the degree of inter-specific variability, we compared the 95% CI in our results, with those reported by Wang et al (2012) who assessed intra-specific variability. Overall, we observed that, for those traits also reported by Wang et al. (stem biomass and photosynthesis), the degree of intra-specific variability (the length of the error bar in Fig. 2) was, at least, as large as the degree of inter-specific variability.

Table 1. Summary of genotypic variation among clones of different species in response to elevated CO₂ for: height, stem biomass, stem volume, photosynthesis. The symbol represents "Y" =yes, "N "= no and "- "= no data available. Data are taken from 27 separate papers that include *Populus* (18), *Picea sitchensis* (4), *Betula pendula* (3) and *Fagus sylvatica* (2).

References	Paper number	Species	Number of clones	Height	Stem biomass	Stem volume	Photosy nthesis
Isebrands et al. (2001)	1	Populus tremuloides	5	Y	-	Y	Y
R. Tognetti et al. (2005)	2	Populus deltoides and P. nigra	2	-	Y	-	Y
Wang et al. (2000)	3	Populus tremuloides	5	-	-	-	-
R.Tognetti et al.(1990)	4	Populus deltoides and P. nigra	2	Y	Y	Y	Y
K.Kostiainen et al.(2005)	5	Populus tremuloides	4	-	-	-	-
Centritto and Jarvis (1998)	6	Picea sitchensis	4	-	-	-	Y
Centritto et al.(1999)	7	Picea sitchensis	4	-	-	-	-
Riikonen et al. (2005)	8	Betula pendula	3	N	-	-	Y
Noormets et al.(2010)	9	Populus tremuloides	2	Y	-	-	-
J.Darbah et al.(2010)	10	Populus tremuloides	2	-	-	-	Y
McGrath et al.(2010)	11	Populus tremuloides	2	-	-	-	-
Kubiske et al.(2007)	12	Populus tremuloides	5	Y	-	Y	-
Noormets et al.(2001)	13	Populus tremuloides	2	Y		Y	-
Cseke et al.(2009)	14	Populus tremuloides	2	-		Y	Y
J. Biosci et al.(1998)	15	Hevea brasiliensis	2	Y	-		Y
Townend et al.(1993)	16	Picea sitchensis	4	-	-	-	-
Riikonen et al.(2004)	17	Betula pendula	3	N	Y	Y	
Kendall et al.(2003)	18	Trembling popular and Hybrid Aspen	7	Y	Y		Y
ZB Luo et al. (2005)	19	Populus tremuloides	6	Y	-	-	-
Centritto et al.(1999)	20	Picea sitchensis	4	Y	-	-	-
Ceulemans et al.(1997)	21	Populus deltoides and P. nigra	2	-	-	-	Y
Ceulemans et al. (1996)	22	populus trichocarpa and p.deltoides	2	Y	-	Y	-

Ceulemants et al. (1995)	23	Populus	2	Y		-	Y
		trichocarpa,			Y		
		P.deltoides					
Spinnler et al.(2003)	24	Fagus sylvatica	8	-			
		and Picea albies			Y		
Dickson et al.(1998)	25	Populus deltoides	4	Y		-	
					Y		
Dickson et al.(2001)	26	Populus	2	Y		Y	
		tremuloides			Y		
Wustman et al.(2001)	27	Populus	3	Y	-	-	-
		tremuloides					

Genotype x environment interaction in response to eCO_2

Our results showed a strong positive correlation between values at ambient and at elevated CO_2 for all traits (Fig. 3). In fact, the R² of the regression between normalized photosynthesis, stem biomass, stem volume and height values measured at eCO_2 vs. normalized values measured at aCO_2 was always above 0.65 (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Comparison of genotype values at elevated vs. ambient CO_2 for normalized (a) photosynthesis, (b) stem biomass, (c) height and (d) stem volume. Each data point represents the value of a given genotype in a given study.

There was a significant and positive relation between the genotype ranking at ambient and at elevated CO₂ concentration for height, stem volume and stem biomass (P < 0.01). That is, genotypes maintained their level of performance after exposure to eCO₂, relative to the performance of the other genotypes. However, the genotype ranking for photosynthesis at aCO₂ was not predictive of genotype ranking at eCO₂ (P = 0.24). It is important to note that genotype rankings only considered the mean (and not the error) value for a genotype. That is, the trait value for a genotype ranked as 1 will be higher than for a genotype ranked as 2, but, the difference may not be statistically significant.



Figure 4. Comparison of genotypes grown in ambient CO_2 to elevated CO_2 height (a), stem volume (b), photosynthesis (c) and stem biomass (d) after ranking of genotypes of the same species were done. Y-axis scale differs between panels.

Photosynthesis as a driver the growth response

Photosynthesis always showed a higher response to eCO_2 than height, stem biomass and stem volume (Fig. 1, Fig. 2). The response of photosynthesis to eCO_2 was significantly correlated with the responses of stem biomass to eCO_2 (P>0.022, R²=0.59), but not with the response of height (P= 0.41; Fig.5). I also attempted to correlate photosynthesis with stem volume, but only 4 data points were available (not all papers that measured photosynthesis also measured the other growth traits) and no meaningful correlation could be extracted.



Figure 5. Comparison of the response to eCO_2 in photosynthesis against height (a) and against stem biomass (b). Data points represent the percent change response of each clone in those studies jointly reporting photosynthesis and height and photosynthesis and stem biomass (b). Relationships between photosynthesis and stem volume could not be examined due to a lack of data. Y-axis scale differs between panels.

Effects of $CO_2 \times O_3$ on genotype growth and photosynthesis

In response to O_3 , I generally observed reductions in height, photosynthesis and stem biomass and volume. However, genotypes growing under O_3 plus elevated CO_2 experienced increases in height, stem biomass, stem volume and photosynthesis (Fig. 6 and 7). I observed that the response to O_3 was not correlated with the response to CO_2 (Fig. 6). However, there was a significant correlation between the response to CO_2 and the response to CO_2+O_3 (Fig. 7)



Figure 6. Comparisons of the % change for variables: Height change at elevated CO_2 to height change at O_3 (a), stem biomass change at elevated CO_2 to stem biomass change at O_3 (b), stem volume change at elevated CO_2 to stem volume change at O_3 (c) and, photosynthesis change at elevated CO_2 to photosynthesis change at O_3 (d). Data points represent the percent change of each clone taken from common separate paper (4 paper for height, 3 paper for stem biomass, 3 paper for stem volume and 3 paper for photosynthesis). Y-axis scale differs between panels.



Figure 7. Comparisons of the % change for variables: Height change at elevated CO_2 to height at eCO_2+O_3 (a), stem biomass change at elevated CO_2 to stem biomass change at $eCO_2 + O_3$ (b), stem volume change at elevated CO_2 to stem volume change at $eCO_2 + O_3$ (c) and, photosynthesis change at elevated CO_2 to photosynthesis change at $eCO_2 + O_3$ (d). Data points represent the percent change of each clone taken from common separate paper (4 paper for height, 3 paper for stem biomass, 3 paper for stem volume and 3 paper for photosynthesis). Y-axis scale differs between panels.

Discussion

Genotype variation in response to elevated CO_2

Elevated CO₂ had a significant effect on tree growth and gas exchange, but the magnitude of the response differed between species and genotypes. The increase in stem biomass I observed was of similar magnitude to those commonly reported in meta-analyses 29 % examining interspecific variation (Wang et al. 2012) and many other finding also show consistent results (Norby et al. ,2005,Körner 2006, Hedges et al. 2007, Cseke et al. 2009, Ainsworth et al. 2015). However, I observed an increase in photosynthesis response (106%) much larger than those typically documented in Wang (19 %) (Fig.2). This could be partly because of the dominance of more-responsive juvenile trees in this study (mostly between 6 month to 3 years) as it has been previously documented (Wang 2007, Rasineni et al. 2011, Kostiainen et al. 2014). This could also be because photosynthesis is a short-term response, with larger temporal fluctuations than other processes, like growth, which integrate responses over longer time-scales. This large photosynthesis response could also be a result arising from the relatively number of published studies on intra-specific variation, which overall limits the degree of generalization from these results. In fact, most of the studies analyzed here were conducted in *Populus*, so further research is needed to understand genetic variation in response eCO₂ in species from other genus.

We observed a large degree of genetic variation in growth and its response to eCO_2 . Indeed, the range in intra-specific variation we observed within the different studies was generally of the same order of magnitude as the variation documented in meta-analyses on interspecific variation (Fig. 2). These results indicate that there is potential for selecting eCO_2 -responsive genotypes for plantations.

Lack of interactions between genotype and environment in response to eCO_2

We did not find evidence for significant G x E interactions. The values of growth traits and photosynthesis at eCO_2 could be predicted from the values at aCO_2 and, additionally, the relative genotype rankings for growth at aCO_2 were maintained also at eCO_2 . Overall, these results indicate that selecting best-performers under current conditions should also lead to selecting the best performers under eCO_2 .

Carbon allocation, and not photsynthesis, was the major driver of growth responses

Based on my meta-analysis in all study papers I considered, I found that the most CO_2 responsive variable was photosynthesis. However, relationships between photosynthesis and growth were not so clear. First of all, the response of photosynthesis was much larger than that of growth. It is important to note that photosynthesis is reported here at the leaf, and not at the individual level. It is likely that trees growing under eCO_2 had higher leaf area than trees growing at aCO_2 such that the response of total plant photosynthesis to eCO_2 would have been much larger than the leaf response reported here. It thus seems like there was a mismatch between C input and aboveground growth, as the former seemed to be much larger than the latter.

Relationships between the response of photosynthesis and the response of growth were not always significant. Indeed, I observed no significant relationship between photosynthesis and height. Moreover, while photosynthesis always a positive response to eCO_2 , height did not always have a positive response and, sometimes, the response was even negative. However, the response of stem biomass was always positive. We did not have enough data to examine responses of secondary growth but, overall our results suggest that the positive growth response was more driven by changes in stem diameter than in stem height.

Considering the increase in C input was much larger than in growth, and that primary growth showed a particularly small response to eCO_2 , we can conclude that, while CO_2 may have a positive effect on stem biomass, that may not necessarily translate into a height increase. In fact, our results point towards increases in allocation of Carbon belowground as the main response to eCO_2 .

It is important to note that our results were conducted under non limiting conditions of nutrients like N and P. Considering that belowground allocation increases under limited soil fertility, increases in CO_2 under limited nutrients could exacerbate this response.

Tree growth response to ozone and ozone plus CO_2 concentration -

It has been well documented that exposing plants to ozone often decreases photosynthesis and stomatal conductance (Nunn et al. 2005, Riikonen et al. 2005). Ozone has more effect on photosynthesis, carbon fixation, light usage efficiency and the exposure to plants is a loss in the

amount and activity of Rubisco (Noormets et al. 2001) and its consequence will be a reduction in photosynthetic capacity.

In my study, in response to O_{3} , height, stem biomass, stem volume and photosynthesis all had a showed a negative response.

This result is consistent to the experimental results that showed elevated ozone decreases chlorophyll concentration (Isebrands et al. 2001, Körner 2006). Another evidence showed also ozone caused a decrease in leaf nitrogen content and photosynthetic ability and also it has damaging physiological responses to plants (Kostiainen et al. 2014, Noormets et al. 2010, Dickson et al. 2001).

From the result I suggest that increase of ozone in the future climate will be one of environmental factor that constrains tree growth, although the combination of ozone and eCO_2 might overcome the ozone's effect. In fact, genotypes grown under $O_3 + eCO_2$ showed a positive response, indicating that the positive effect of CO_2 may overcome, at least to some extent, the negative effects of O_3 . This result additionally indicates that, by selecting genotypes most responsive to eCO_2 , we are concomitantly selecting those most responsive to eCO_2+O_3 .

To the contrary, for plants grown in ozone plus elevated CO_2 , enormous experimental research findings agree to our result and demonstrate that since elevated CO_2 generally increases carbon fixation and decreases stomatal conductance, increasing CO_2 concentration alleviate the negative effect of O_3 on plant growth and consequently will have a positive response (Dickson et al. 2001, Riikonen et al. 2005, Kubiske et al. 2007, Noormets et al. 2010).

In general, the increase in response to elevated CO_2 and ozone plus eCO_2 and the negative response to ozone concentration which is seen in different tree species has important inference in planning plantations in future program.

Conclusion

In conclusion, in this study I observed that:

- There is significant genetic variation in the response of growth to eCO₂.
- Genotype growth under eCO2 is highly predictable based on genotype growth at aCO₂.
- Large increases in photosynthesis do not lead to aboveground growth increases of comparable magnitude.
- Increases in primary growth in response to eCO₂ are relatively smaller than in stem biomass.
- Increasing C allocation belowground seems to be the main primary fate of enhanced photosynthetic rates.
- Exposing trees to O₃ reduce tree growth but eCO₂+O₃ have significant positive effect on tree growth.
- Further research should address the effects of CO₂ in interaction with other global change agents and in species belonging to a genus different from *Populus*.

References

- Ainsworth E., Davey P. A., Hymus G.J., Drake B.G., Long S. P. (2015). Long term-response of photosynthesis to elevated Carbon dioxide in a Florida scrub-oak ecosystem. 12:1267– 1275.
- Arp W. J, Drake BG (1991). Increased Photosynthetic Capacity of Scirpus-Olneyi after 4 Years of Exposure to Elevated CO₂. Plant Cell Environ 14:1003–1006.
- Aspinwall M.J., Loik M.E., Resco De Dios V., Tjoelker M.G., Payton P.R., Tissue D.T. (2014). Utilizing intraspecific variation in phenotypic plasticity to bolster agricultural and forest productivity under climate change. Plant Cell Environviron 14: 1008-1011.
- Bauweraerts I, Mannaerts T., Wertin T.M., McGuire M.A., Teskey R.O., Steppe K. (2014). Elevated CO₂ and growth temperature have a small positive effect on photosynthetic thermotolerance of Pinus taeda seedlings. Trees 28:1515–1526).
- Brook S. Statistical Issues in Ecological Meta-analysis Oecologia (1999) 80:1142–1149.
- Burdon R.D. (1997). Genetic Correlation as a Concept for studying. Genotype-Environment Interaction in Forest Tree Breeding.Canadell P (2010). Forests and Peatlands.
- Centritto M., Lee H.S.J., Jarvis P.G. (1999). Long-term effects of elevated carbon dioxide concentration and provenance on four clones of Sitka spruce (Picea sitchensis). I. Plant growth, allocation and ontogeny. Tree Physiol 19:799–806.
- Ceulemans R., Taylor G., Bosac C., Wilkins D., Besford R.T. (1997). Photosynthetic acclimation to elevated CO_2 in poplar grown in glasshouse cabinets or in open top chambers depends on duration of exposure. 48:1681–1689.
- Cseke L.J., Tsai C.J., Rogers A., Nelsen M.P., White H.L., Karnosky D.F., Podila G.K. (2009). Transcriptomic comparison in the leaves of two aspen genotypes having similar carbon assimilation rates but different partitioning patterns under elevated CO₂. New Phytol 182:891–911.
- Curtis P.S. (1996). A meta-analysis of leaf gas exchange and nitrogen in trees grown under elevated carbon dioxide. Plant, Cell Environ 19:127–137.
- Curtis P.S., Wang X. (1998). A meta-analysis of elevated CO₂ effects on woody plant mass , form , and physiology. :299–313.

- Curtis P.S., Wang X. (1998). A meta-analysis of elevated CO₂ effects on woody plant mass, form, and physiology. Oecologia 113:299–313.
- Dale V.H., Joycela M. S., Neilson R.P., Ayres M.P., Flannigan M.D., Hanson P.J., Irland L.C., Lugo A.E., Peterson C.J., Simberloofd, Swanson F.J., Stocks B.J., Michael Wutton B. (2001). Climate Change and Forest Disturbances. Bioscience 51:723.
- Darbah J.N.T., Kubiske M.E., Nelson N, Kets K, Riikonen J, Sober A, Rouse L, Karnosky D.F. (2010). Will photosynthetic capacity of aspen trees acclimate after long-term exposure to elevated CO₂ and O₃? Environ Pollut 158:983–91.
- Dickson R.E., Coleman M.D., Pechter P, Karnosky D. (2001). Growth and crown architecture of two aspen genotypes exposed to interacting ozone and carbon dioxide. Environ Pollut 115:319–334.
- Drake B.G., Gonzalez M. A., Long S.P. (1997). More Efficient Plants: A Consequence of Rising Atmospheric CO₂? Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 48:609–639.
- Eamus D., Jarvis P.G. (2004). The Direct Effects of Increase in the Global Atmospheric CO₂ Concentration on Natural and Commercial Temperate Trees and Forests. Adv Ecol Res 34:1–58.
- Esser G., Kattge J., Sakalli A. (2011). Feedback of carbon and nitrogen cycles enhances carbon sequestration in the terrestrial biosphere. Glob Chang Biol 17:819–842.
- Fang J., Kato T, Guo Z., Yang Y., Hu H., Shen H., Zhao X., Kishimoto M., Tang Y., Houghton R. (2014). Evidence for environmentally enhanced forest growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 111:9527–32.
- Hedges L. V., Gurevitch J., Curtis P.S. (1999). The meta-analysis of response ratios in experimental ecology. Ecology 80:1150–1156.
- Hedges L.V., Gurevitch J., Curtis P.S. (2007). The Meta-Analysis of Response Ratios in Experimental Ecology. 80:1150–1156.
- Hole W. (2006). Part III Overview. The Carbon Cycle in Land and Water Systems. Oecologia 50:1230-1247
- Hollinger D.Y. (1987). Gas exchange and dry matter allocation responses to elevation of atmospheric CO₂ concentration in seedlings of three tree species. Tree Physiol 3:193–202.
- Isebrands J., McDonald E., Kruger E., Hendrey G., Percy K., Pregitzer K., Sober J., Karnosky D. (2001). Growth responses of Populus tremuloides clones to interacting elevated carbon dioxide and tropospheric ozone. Environ Pollut 115:359–371.

- Kaakinen S., Kostiainen K., Saranpaa P., Kubiske M.E., Sober J., Karnosky D.F., Vapaavuori E. (2004). Stem wood properties of Populus tremuloides, Betula papyrifera and Acer saccharum saplings after 3 years of treatments to elevated carbon dioxide and ozone. Glob Chang Biol 10:1513–1525.
- King A.W., Post W.M., Wullschleger S.D. (1997). The potential response of terrestrial carbon storage to changes in climate and atmospheric CO₂. Clim Change 35:199–227.
- Koricheva J., Gurevitch J. Place of Meta- analysis among Other Methods of Research Synthesis. Plant Cell Environ 37:129–41.
- Körner C. (2006). Plant CO₂ responses : An issue of definition , time and resource supply. :393–411.
- Kostiainen K., Saranpää P., Lundqvist S.O., Kubiske M.E., Vapaavuori E. (2014). Wood properties of Populus and Betula in long-term exposure to elevated CO₂. Plant Cell Environ 37:1452–63.
- Krishi G., Kendra V., Division P.P. (1998). Effect of elevated CO₂ concentration on seedling growth rate and photosynthesis in Hevea brasiliensis. :1–3.
- Kubiske M.E., Pregitzer K.S., Mikan C.J., Zak D.R., Maziasz J.L., Teeri J.A. (1997) Populus tremuloides photosynthesis and crown architecture in response to elevated CO₂ and soil N availability. Oecologia 110:328–336.
- Kubiske M.E., Quinn V.S., Marquardt P.E., Karnosky D.F. (2007). Effects of Elevated Atmospheric CO₂ and/or O₃ on Intra- and Interspecific Competitive Ability of Aspen. Plant Biol 9:342–355.
- Liberloo M., Dillen S.Y., Calfapietra C., Marinari S., Luo Z.B., De Angelis P., Ceulemans R.(2005). Elevated CO₂ concentration, fertilization and their interaction: growth stimulation in a short-rotation poplar coppice. Tree Physiol 25:179–189.
- Lindroth R.L. (2010). Impacts of elevated atmospheric CO₂ and O₃ on forests: phytochemistry, trophic interactions, and ecosystem dynamics. J Chem Ecol 36:2–21.
- Long S.P., Ainsworth E.A. (2004). What have we learned from 15 years of free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE)? A meta-analytic review of the responses of photosynthesis, canopy properties and plant production to rising CO₂.Physiol.Plant.87:560-576.
- McGrath J.M., Karnosky D.F., Ainsworth E. (2010). Spring leaf flush in aspen (Populus tremuloides) clones is altered by long-term growth at elevated carbon dioxide and elevated ozone concentration. Environ Pollut 158:1023–8.
- Medlyn B.E., Barton CVM., Broadmeadow M.S.J., Ceulemans R., Angelis P. De, Forstreuter M., Freeman M., Jackson S.B., Kellomäki S., Laitat E., Rey A., Roberntz P., Sigurdsson

B.D., Strassemeyer J., Wang K., Curtis P.S., Jarvis P.G., Medlyn B. (2001). Stomatal conductance of forest species after long-term exposure to elevated CO_2 concentration : J Chem Ecol 34:223–239.

- Mencuccini M., Magnani F. (2000). Comment on "Hydraulic limitation of tree height: A critique" by Becker, Meinzer and Wullschleger. Funct Ecol 14:135–140.
- Nitschke C.R., Innes J.L. (2008). Integrating climate change into forest management in South-Central British Columbia: An assessment of landscape vulnerability and development of a climate-smart framework. For Ecol Manage 256:313–327.
- Noormets A., Kull O., Sôber A., Kubiske M.E., Karnosky D.F. (2010). Elevated CO₂ response of photosynthesis depends on ozone concentration in aspen. Environ Pollut 158:992–999.
- Noormets A., Sôber A., Pell E.J., Dickson R.E., Podila G.K., Sôber J., Isebrands J.G. (2001). Stomatal and non-stomatal limitation to photosynthesis in two trembling aspen (Populus tremuloides Michx.) clones exposed to elevated CO₂ and / or O₃. 3:327–336.
- Norby R.J., Delucia E.H., Gielen B., Calfapietra C., Giardina C.P., King J.S., Ledford J, Mccarthy H.R., Moore D.J.P., Ceulemans R., Angelis P. D., Finzi A.C., Karnosky D.F., Kubiske M.E., Lukac M., Pregitzer K.S., Scarascia-mugnozza G.E., Schlesinger W.H., Oren R. (2005). Forest response to elevated CO₂ is conserved across a broad range of productivity.
- Nunn A.J., Reiter I.M., H\u00e4berle K.H., Langebartels C., Bahnweg G., Pretzsch H., Sandermann H., Matyssek R. (2005). Response patterns in adult forest trees to chronic ozone stress: Identification of variations and consistencies. Environ Pollut 136:365–369.
- Oren R, Ellsworth DS, Johnsen KH, Phillips N, Ewers BE, Maier C, Schäfer K V, McCarthy H, Hendrey G, McNulty SG, Katul GG (2001) Soil fertility limits carbon sequestration by forest ecosystems in a CO2-enriched atmosphere. Nature 411:469–472.
- Pita P., Cañas I., Soria F., Ruiz F., Toval G. (2005). Use of physiological traits in tree breeding for improved yield in drought-prone environments. The case of Eucalyptus globulus. 14:383–393.
- Raschi A. (2003). Atmospheric CO₂ concentration in the field. Environ Pollut 158:1056–64.
- Rasineni G.K., Guha A., Reddy A.R. (2011). Elevated atmospheric CO₂ mitigated photoinhibition in a tropical tree species, Gmelina arborea. J Photochem Photobiol B 103:159–165.
- Raupach M.R., Field C.B., Buitenhuis E.T., Ciais P., Canadell J.G., Que C.L., Conway T.J., Gillett N.P., Houghton R.A., Marland G. (2007). Contributions to accelerating atmospheric CO₂ growth from economic activity, carbon intensity, and efficiency of natural sinks.

- Reddy A.R., Rasineni G.K., Raghavendra A.S. (2010). The impact of global elevated CO₂ concentration on photosynthesis and plant. Global Biogeochem 97.
- Reich P.B., Hungate B.A., Luo Y. (2006). Carbon-Nitrogen Interactions in Terrestrial Ecosystems in Response to Rising Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 37:611–636.
- Riikonen J., Holopainen T., Oksanen E., Vapaavuori E. (2005). Leaf photosynthetic characteristics of silver birch during three years of exposure to elevated concentrations of CO_2 and O_3 in the field. Tree Physiol 25:621–632.
- Rosenberg M.S. (2005). Brief communications. Ecology and Evolution59:464-468.
- Rosenthal R. (1979). The file drawer problem and tolerance for null results. Psychol Bull 86:638–641.
- Schimel D.S., House J.I, Hibbard K.A., Bousquet P., Ciais P., Peylin P., Braswell B.H., Apps M.J., Baker D., Canadell J., Churkina G., Cramer W., Denning A.S., Field C.B., Friedlingstein P., Goodale C., Heimann M., Houghton R.A., Melillo J.M., Murdiyarso D., Noble I., Pacala S.W., Prentice I.C., Raupach M.R., Rayner P.J., Scholes R.J., Steffen W.L., Wirth C. (2001). Recent patterns and mechanisms of carbon exchange by terrestrial ecosystems. 414:169–172.
- Spinnler D., Egli P., Körner C. (2003). Basic and Applied Ecology Provenance effects and allometry in beech and spruce under elevated CO₂ and nitrogen on two different forest soils. 478:467–478.
- Strain & Cure 1994 (1994). Direct effects of increasing atmospheric CO₂ on plants and ecosystems. Trends Ecol Evol (Personal Ed 2:18–21.
- Temperton V.M., Grayston S.J., Jackson G., Barton C.M., Millard P., Jarvis P.G. (2003). Effects of elevated carbon dioxide concentration on growth and nitrogen fixation in Alnus glutinosa in a long-term field experiment. :1051–1059.
- Thornton P.E., Lamarque J.F., Rosenbloom N.A., Mahowald N.M. (2007). Influence of carbonnitrogen cycle coupling on land model response to CO2 fertilization and climate variability. Global Biogeochem Cycles 21.
- Tissue D.T., Thomas R.B., Strain B.R. (1997). Atmospheric CO₂ enrichment increases growth and photosynthesis of Pinus taeda: a 4 year experiment in the field. Plant, Cell Environ 20:1123–1134.
- Townend J. (1993). Effects of elevated carbon dioxide and drought on the growth and physiology of clonal Sitka spruce plants (Picea sitchensis (Bong.) Carr.). :389–399.

- Tricker P.J., Trewin H., Kull O., Clarkson G.J.J., Eensalu E., Tallis M.J., Colella A., Doncaster C.P., Sabatti M., Taylor G. (2005). Stomatal conductance and not stomatal density determines the long-term reduction in leaf transpiration of poplar in elevated CO₂. Oecologia 143:652–60.
- Tupker K.A., Thomas B.R., Macdonald S.E. (2003). Propagation of trembling aspen and hybrid poplar for agroforestry : potential benefits of elevated CO₂ in the greenhouse. :61–71.
- Vaz M., Cochard H., Gazarini L., Graça J., Chaves M.M., Pereira J.S. (2012). Cork oak (Quercus suber L.) seedlings acclimate to elevated CO₂ and water stress: photosynthesis, growth, wood anatomy and hydraulic conductivity. Trees 26:1145–1157.
- Wang X. (2007). Effects of species richness and elevated carbon dioxide on biomass accumulation: a synthesis using meta-analysis. Oecologia 152:595–605.
- Wang X., Curtis P.S., Pregitzer K.S., Zak D.R.(2000). Genotypic variation in physiological and growth responses of Populus tremuloides to elevated atmospheric CO₂ concentration. Tree Physiol 20:1019–1028.
- Wang D., Heckathorn S. A., Wang X., Philpott S.M. (2012). A meta-analysis of plant physiological and growth responses to temperature and elevated CO₂. Oecologia 169:1–13.
- Wolfgang Viechtbauer (2010). Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. Journal of Statistical Software, 36 (3), 1-48. URL http://www.jstatsoft.org/v36/i03/.
- Zak D.R., Pregitzer K.S., Curtis P.S., Teeri J.A., Fogel R., Randlett D.L. (1993). Elevated atmospheric CO₂ and feedback between carbon and nitrogen cycles. Plant Soil 151:105–117.